ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
HOUSE SPECI AL COVWM TTEE ON ECONOM C DEVELOPMENT, TRADE AND
TOURI SM
February 7, 2013
11:18 a. m

MVEMBERS PRESENT

Representati ve Shel |l ey Hughes, Chair
Representative Lynn Gattis
Representati ve Pete Hi ggins
Representative Lance Pruitt
Representative Harriet Drunmond
Representative Geran Tarr

VEMBERS ABSENT

Represent ati ve Bob Herron
Representative Crai g Johnson
Representative Kurt O son

COWM TTEE CALENDAR

OVERVIEW (S): FI LM AND TOURI SM PROGRAMS BY DI VI SION OF ECONOM C
DEVELOPMENT~ DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE~ COVMUNITY & ECONOMC
DEVEL OPVENT

- HEARD
PREVI QUS COMM TTEE ACTI ON
No previous action to record
W TNESS REG STER

LORENE PALMER, Director

Di vi sion of Econom c Devel opnent ( DED)

Depart ment of Comrerce, Conmunity & Econom ¢ Devel opnment ( DCCED)
Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Provided a Power Point presentation
entitled, "Econom c Devel opnent - Tourism & Film" dated 2/7/13.

CARYL MCCONKI E, Devel opnent Speci al i st

Juneau O fice

Devel opnment Section

Di vi sion of Econom c Devel opnent ( DED)

Departnment of Commerce, Conmunity & Econom c Devel opnment ( DCCED)

HOUSE EDT COW TTEE -1- February 7, 2013



Juneau, Al aska
POSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Answered questions during the PowerPoint
presentation entitled, "Econom c Devel opnent - Tourism& Film"

GLEN HAI GHT, Devel opnment Manager

Juneau O fice

Devel opnent Section

Di vi sion of Econom c Devel opnent ( DED)

Depart ment of Commrerce, Conmunity & Econom c Devel opnent ( DCCED)
Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Answered questions during the PowerPoint
presentation entitled, "Econom c Devel opnent - Tourism& Film"

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

11:18: 59 AM

CHAIR SHELLEY HUGHES called the House Special Commttee on
Econom c Devel opnent, Trade and Tourism neeting to order at
11:18 a.m Representatives Drummond, Gattis, Hi ggins, and
Hughes were present at the call to order. Represent ati ves
Pruitt and Tarr arrived as the neeting was in progress.

OVERVIEW (S): FILM AND TOURI SM PROGRAMS BY DI VI SI ON OF ECONOM C
DEVELOPMENT, DEPARTMVENT OF COMVERCE, COMVUNITY & ECONOM C
DEVEL OPIVENT

11:19: 55 AM

CHAI R HUGHES announced that the only order of business would be
an overview of the Film and Tourism Prograns by the Division of
Econom ¢ Devel opnent, Department of Commerce, Comunity &
Econom c Devel opnent. She directed the commttee's attention to
DCCED s fiscal vyear 2013 (FY 13) second quarter tourism
mar keting report and a response to questions from the neeting on
1/31/13 that were included in the commttee packet.

11:20: 46 AM

LORENE PALMER, Director, Division of Econom c Devel opnent (DED),
Departnment of  Commerce, Community & Econom c Devel opnent
(DCCED), provided a PowerPoint presentation entitled, "Economc
Devel opnent - Tourism & Film" Ms. Palner infornmed the
commttee the focus of her presentation would be on the tourism
and film sectors of DED, and what they nean to the state's
econony. The tourism industry brings $3.72 billion in direct
and indirect spending into the state and $179 nmllion cones to

HOUSE EDT COW TTEE - 2- February 7, 2013



the state through taxes and fees. Tourism represents
approximately 38,000 jobs, increasing to 45,000 jobs during the
peak season. The tourism industry is recovering from the
recession and 1,005,000 visitors are expected in 2013, which is
an increase of 7 percent. Also, there is increased air capacity
into Alaska with the addition of Icelandair and new flights by
Jet Blue, United, and Alaska Airlines [slide 2].

11: 23: 24 AM

REPRESENTATI VE DRUVMOND asked for a forecast on the nunber of
i ndependent travelers expected this year, and for their nunbers
in past years.

M5. PALMER said the econom c inpact study and the Al aska Visitor
Statistics Program include that information and both reports
have recently been posted online. As far as a forecast, she
opi ned i ndependent travelers will have a simlar increase.

REPRESENTATI VE DRUVMMOND urged for the inclusion of all of the
travelers in the total estimted anpunt.

M5. PALMER stated there were 1.586 mllion total visitors in
2012 and the nunbers are back on the rise to the peak of 1.7
mllion in 2007 and 2008.

CHAI R HUGHES asked how many non-cruise visitors drive or trave
by air.

11: 25: 46 AM

CARYL MCCONKI E, Devel opnent Speci al i st Juneau Ofice,
Devel opnent Section, DED, DCCED, stated that in sumrer 2012,
there were 1.586 mllion visitors, of which 59 percent travel ed
by cruise ship, 37 percent entered and exited the state by air,
and 4 percent entered and exited by highway and/or ferry.

REPRESENTATI VE H GA NS asked how this information i s known.

M5. MCCONKI E explained the legislature comm ssioned a study by
DCCED called the Alaska Visitor Statistics Program The study
has been conducted six tinmes since 1986 and visitors are
interviewed as they enter and exit the state. The visitors are
asked many questions about their honmes, travels, and spending

and the information is used by DED s marketing program and
provided to the tourism industry and comunities. In response

HOUSE EDT COWM TTEE - 3- February 7, 2013



to Chair Hughes, she said a baseline study is conducted every
four years, and is updated annually.

M5. PALMER pointed out that conpared to the previous study done
in 2008-2009, in 2011-2012 +there have been increases in
enpl oyment to 37,800, labor inconme is up to $1.24 billion, and
total spending is up to $3.72 billion [slide 3]. Turning to
DED s tourism nmarketing effort, she said there are a variety of
activities that create demand for Al aska visitation and that are
directed to the private sector, the travel trade, and
international markets. She advised that the travel trade has an
established distribution channel which is used by the division
to reach their custoners. The highest itemin the budget is for
advertising which is the activity that creates the greatest
vol une of awareness about Alaska [slide 4]. In response to
Chair Hughes, Ms. Palnmer said no federal dollars are a part of
t he marketing program

11: 30: 49 AM

CHAI R HUGHES then asked how the ratio of economi c benefit from
the tourism marketing budget conpares with the value of other
i ndustries that use state funds, such as fishing and tinber.

M5. PALMER said the mnerals industry supports 3,800 jobs, the
seaf ood industry supports 53,000 jobs, tourism supports about
40,000 jobs, tinber supports 619 jobs, and agriculture supports
680 farns.

CHAIR HUGHES observed that DED indicated that the tourism
i ndustry contributes an econom c benefit of $3.72 billion with a
state investnment of $17 mllion. She expressed her interest in
know ng what |evel of investnment is put in other industries and
how t he econom c benefit conpares.

M5. PALMER said the division will provide that information to
the comittee. She turned attention to the public relations
program and activities in direct contact with consuners; in this
fiscal year, nearly 447 stories about Al aska have been generated

in a variety of publications. |If purchased as advertising, this
exposure would cost about $31.5 mllion. O her activities
include a nedia road show, a New York nedia |uncheon, and the
use of social nedia. In response to Representative Drummond,

she said Facebook and Twitter are used as social nedia outlets.
There are also special projects such as the Top Chef television
show, which will reach 5.2 mllion viewers and has a public
relations value of $5.4 nillion to the state [slide 5]. The

HOUSE EDT COW TTEE -4- February 7, 2013



show was an opportunity to conbine attracting visitors to nake
Al aska their destination and also to pronote the Al aska Seafood
Marketing Institute (ASM) nessage. As an aside, she read three
of the 30,000 tweets sent during the show s first episode.

11: 36: 24 AM

CHAI R HUGHES asked how the state was the state involved in the
Top Chef show, and what el se may be com ng up

11: 36: 37 AM

M5. PALMER expl ai ned special projects are either targeted by the
division or are opportunities that "conme our way." The state's
role was to mmke connections wth the show and try to
accommodate the interests of the show through DED s public
rel ati ons contractor. Along wth involvement from ASM there
was trenendous support from the private sector. In further
response to Chair Hughes, she said the first contact was through
t he tourism association contract two or nore years ago.

CHAI R HUGHES asked, "Wuld it have happened w thout the tourism
association being involved or did you respond because they were
pursuing it?"

M5. PALMER said at the time of the tourism association, it was
the lead; after the association was replaced, the division
fol |l owed through. She continued to the next elenent of the
presentation: Al aska Tourism Marketing. The current budget for
television advertising is $5.7 mllion, and print advertisenents
in targeted nmamgazines are to encourage readers to order the
State Vacation Planner or visit the web site.

REPRESENTATI VE DRUVMOND asked whether the advertisements air on
Al aska reality tel evision shows.

M5. PALMER said she did not know, however, 30-second cable spots

will be aired on The History Channel, D scovery Channel, Fox
News, The Wather Channel, Travel Channel, Animal Plant, and
Nat i onal Geogr aphi c. Ten-second spots will air on gane shows
[slide 6].

CHAIR HUGHES inquired as to whether there is an effort to align
commercials with audiences that may be the npbst interested in
traveling to Al aska.

11:41: 36 AM

HOUSE EDT COW TTEE - 5- February 7, 2013



M5. PALMER deferred to the advertising commttee. In further
response to Chair Hughes, she advised that the division has a
nmedi a contractor who mnmakes informed and skilled choices on the
pl acement of adverti sing. She continued wth the presentation

and said opportunities to connect with the private sector are
very inportant, so the division publishes travel brochures wth
advertising purchased by businesses in the travel industry.
These are used as planning tools by those considering a trip,
and so far 300,000 requests have been received. The web site is
another tool for visitors to use to begin planning a trip and to
make connections with private businesses. Cernan, [Korean], and
Japanese | anguage web sites support the international marketing
effort [slide 8].

REPRESENTATI VE DRUMMOND asked whet her ot her countries are
t ar get ed.

M5. PALMER was unsure. In response to Chair Hughes, she said
Japan, GCermany, and Korea are either feeder markets or a narket
bei ng devel oped.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTIS surmised the marketing 1is based on
existing air traffic.

11: 44:58 AM

M5. PALMER said yes, although a lot is based on the division's
assessment of the interest in Al aska. Airlift is a very
i nportant part of any econom c devel opnent because of access; in
fact, Ilcelandair is comng into the state as a result of a

partnership anong nmany agencies including the Ted Stevens
Anchorage International Airport. This new air carrier wll
provide additional access twice a week to European markets
[slide 9]. Ms. Palmer, in response to Representative Drummond,
said there wll be an inaugural celebration in My. She
addressed the topic of research, and noted that this is another
important part of economc developnent strategy along wth

financing and marketing. The division comm ssions an economc
i mpact study to use as a neasuring tool of what this sector
contributes to Alaska's econony. Data from the Alaska Visitor

Statistics Program and the econom c inpact study is designed to
hel p the industry nake good busi ness decisions and to help state
agenci es make good policy decisions [slides 10 and 11].

11:49: 26 AM

HOUSE EDT COWM TTEE - 6- February 7, 2013



CHAIR HUGHES asked how often this data is used by business
owners.

M5. PALMER referred to her experience as a former convention and
visitor bureau president, and said that businesses need and use
this information and it is a highly anticipated item of
research. She restated a description of the Al aska Visitor
Statistics Program

CHAI R HUGHES recal l ed that the state spends about $10 mllion on
mar keti ng and asked how nuch the cruise industry, the airlines,
and the private sector spend on advertising travel to Al aska.

M5. MCCONKI E said she did not have hard figures at this tine.

CHAIR HUGHES reflected it is inportant for constituents to know
what the private sector is spending.

REPRESENTATI VE DRUWOND asked for exanples of how [DED] has
reacted after |earning sonething new fromresearch

11: 53: 03 AM

M5. PALMER said she did not have that historical informtion;
however, from her experience with the Al aska Travel Industry
Associ ation she relayed that nmarketing data was always taken
into consideration when the private sector made marketing
choi ces and budget decisions; marketing data is also used to
| ook at international econom c trends. In further response to
Representative Drummond, she said she worked for the Juneau
Convention and Visitors Bureau for 10 years, and has worked in
the tourismindustry for 30 years.

11:55: 01 AM

CHAI R HUGHES asked whether there are current trends visible in
the data that are going to cause adjustnents in budget and

policy.

M5. PALMER advi sed the data is recent, and the division and the
private sector are in the process of reviewing the information.

CHAIR HUGHES expressed her interest in hearing about any
changes.

M5. PALMER continued to the division's economc strategy of
wor kf or ce devel opnent and hi ghlighted prograns designed to build

HOUSE EDT COW TTEE -7- February 7, 2013



skills wthin the workforce, and to help those who are
interested in entering the tourism industry: Al askaHost is
custoner service training; CulturalHost is geared toward a
cultural market; and the Al askaTour Guide Training "Train the
Trainer” is a programto help businesses prepare enployees to be
tour guides [slide 12].

CHAI R HUGHES asked whether simlar training is available through
the University of Al aska (UA) canpuses or |ocal schools.

M5. PALMER said this training program has been adopted by |oca
school s, for exanple, the Al askaHost programis being offered in

Anchorage and through UA This is a service provided to
busi nesses; in fact, the program "trains the trainer" so an
attendee can return and train other staff. In further response

to Representative Hughes, she said she would find out if the
state charges for participation

M5. MCCONKIE said if the state offers training in a rural area
there is no charge, but to train a trainer, the fees are on a
case- by-case basis. In further response to Chair Hughes, she
confirmed that sone cruise lines have incorporated the
Al askaHost programinto their training, as have other businesses
as wel | .

REPRESENTATI VE DRUMMOND stated that AlaskaHost training is
avai lable at the King Career Center and at all of the Anchorage
hi gh  school s, and is utilized by the Alaska Railroad
Cor por ati on.

12: 00: 56 PM

REPRESENTATI VE HIGA@ NS asked whether there is a training
conponent in the budget.

12: 01: 05 PM

M5. MCCONKI E explained the training budget is not part of the
tourism presentation, which only covers the tourism marketing
budget . The training function falls under DED s devel opnent
pr ogr amns.

M5. PALMER turned attention to the Alaska Film Ofice, Film
Sector Devel opnent. To pronote Alaska as a film destination,
the division <conducts outreach wth speaking engagenents,
targeted contacts, and staff who field daily inquiries about
filmng in Al aska. The division also attends film industry

HOUSE EDT COWM TTEE - 8- February 7, 2013



trade shows and events such as the Association of Film
Comm ssioners International (AFCI) |ocations trade show In
response to Chair Hughes, she said this trade show is located in
Southern California, and the division has attended for the past
two years. She observed that the process to raise awareness and
buil d a networki ng base takes repetition.

12: 04: 24 PM

REPRESENTATI VE PRUI TT questioned why [the industry] is not aware
of Alaska and the filmcredits that are avail abl e.

12: 05:40 PM

GLEN HAI GHT, Devel opnent Manager, Juneau O fice, Devel opnent
Section, DED, DCCED, said the tax credit program needs to be
expl ai ned and nenbers of the film industry benefit from tal king
directly to state representatives about how to solve their
production probl ens. In response to Chair Hughes, he said he
had not attended a trade show and was unsure whether there are
m sperceptions about Al aska.

REPRESENTATI VE H GA NS asked how nmuch actual work has cone from
attendi ng trade shows.

M5. PALMER expressed her belief that there is an effort to "tie
the results to the effort.” This is very hard to track although
inquiries are nade. Al so, productions take a l|long period of
time and nmay cone into developnent two to four years after the
first contact. She said she wished for a direct correlation
between the investnment and the outcone, although repeated
contacts can be tracked back.

CHAIR HUGHES urged the division staff to always inquire as to
how a busi ness heard about Al aska.

12:10: 33 PM

MS. PALMER said she was unsure how the staff nmanages and tracks
"connections," and woul d ask.

REPRESENTATI VE HI GG NS acknow edged that the film tax credit is

new and he appreciated the division's efforts to "educate the
rest of the Lower 48."

HOUSE EDT COWM TTEE -9- February 7, 2013



REPRESENTATI VE DRUVMOND has observed that the public's attention
span is short. She asked whether Al aska was featured in the
fil mmagazi nes shown on slide 14.

M5. PALMER said the division has placed advertisenents in those
magazi nes. She then noted that the division is expanding its
mar keting effort and has opened a request for proposal (RFP) to
contract for advice froma |location expert in the film industry
[slide 14].

M5. PALMER referred to a chart of spending as a result of the
film program and advised that the annual film programreport is
due out in February. The chart represented productions that
qualified for tax credits and the anount that was spent per
fiscal year; for exanple, in fiscal year 2012 (FY 12), Al aska
resi dent wages were $5,713.981. Addi ng the spending categories
of in-state transportation, interstate transportation, |ocation
and other fees, contract services, and food and | odging, reveals
t he econom c inpact that productions bring [slide 15].

12:14: 58 PM

CHAlI R HUGHES asked for information on the tax credits that have
been pai d.

M5. PALMER advised that tax credits approved/ paid out are as
follows: FY 10 - $244,000; FY 11 - $6.2 mllion; FY 12 - $18.6
mllion; and FY 13 to date - $9.9 mllion. Over the course of
t hese years, the total is $35.1 million

REPRESENTATI VE PRU TT observed the hi ghest spending category for
tax credits is non-resident wages. He asked if the division has
seen that a new industry to support film production has
devel oped within the state, and whether the anmount of Al aska
resident wages will surpass non-resident wages.

M5. PALMER said there is historical data on the types and nunber
of shows in production, and the nunber of shows has increased
from six in FY 09 to forty-two in FY 12. There have been
changes to the tax credit program and that effect is unknown at
this point, but up to now the trend is positive and grow ng

She opined that developing a workforce base in Al aska
contributes to Alaska's attraction as a | ocation. In fact, the
| egislature appropriated funds so that the division and
Department of Labor & Wrkforce Devel opment (DLWD) could work
together to provide resources for crew training prograns and for
individuals to participate. As a result, there are a variety of

HOUSE EDT COW TTEE -10- February 7, 2013



crew training prograns available such as the Ketchikan Public
Uilities (KPU) Tel ecommuni cations class offered in the
Ket chi kan school system [slide 16].

CHAI R HUGHES asked whether the graduates of these prograns stay
in Al aska.

M5. PALMER said it is too early to know. In further response to
Chair Hughes, she deferred to the Alaska W rkforce |Investnent
Board, DLWD, the question on whether there will be "tracking" of
t he graduat es.

REPRESENTATI VE TARR asked what is expected for FY 13.

MR HAIGHT said there are productions that have been pre-
qual i fi ed.

REPRESENTATIVE HI GG NS recalled there was not a ready workforce
in the state a couple of years ago.

REPRESENTATI VE DRUVMOND said Anchorage has a nunber of film
production crews. She asked whether the value of wages is
pulled out of the other categories; for exanple, whether in-
state transportation represents only the cost of the use of
vehi cl es.

MR. HAIGHT explained that the food and |odging category is the
anpunt paid to the restaurant, caterer, or hotel, and would
i ncl ude wages. The wages category represents spending for the
crew working on the film

REPRESENTATI VE PRUI TT asked whether production conpanies are
encouraged to hire Alaska businesses for support services
instead of bringing in outside entities.

12: 25: 46 PM

M5. PALMER advised the basis of the incentive program is to
encourage conpanies to take advantage of the tax credits to
increase profits. Addi tional assets such as local crews can
make productions nore profitable.

REPRESENTATIVE PRU TT expressed his concern that Al aska
busi nesses are frustrated because the state pays tax credits to
a film production conpany that brings conpetitors and their
equi pnent into the state to provide a service that |oca
conpani es can provi de.

HOUSE EDT COW TTEE -11- February 7, 2013



REPRESENTATI VE GATTIS asked if tax credits are given to support
servi ces such as caterers and ot hers.

M5. PALMER understood that the incentive programis targeted at
production conpanies so they can be nore economcal. In further
response to Representative Gattis, she said a caterer is hired
by the production conpany and would not cone into the state
i ndependently, although it is possible a film production conpany
could have a caterer who is a fixture in its productions.

REPRESENTATI VE GATTIS surmised it is possible for a film
producer to have an all-inclusive production, including a
caterer, and receive film|[tax] credits for all of the expenses.

MR. HAI GHT expl ai ned that any conpany receiving credits through
the production conpany nust have an Al aska business |icense.
Al t hough production conpani es package their expenses through the
application process, the expenses are carefully vetted by
Certified Public Accountants who follow stringent procedures
thus "the intent is to have the tax credit extended to Al aska
busi nesses. " In further response to Representative Gattis, he
said there are several "checks" before an accountant can approve
expenses.

12:31: 22 PM

CHAI R HUGHES inquired as to whether the state is prohibited from
requiring Al aska hire as part of the eligibility.

MR. HAI GHT advi sed he woul d give that question further review

REPRESENTATIVE PRU TT recalled during interim there was
di scussion on this topic, and he restated his concern.

CHAIR HUGHES asked whether the |egislature considered putting
hiring restrictions on the programat the outset.

REPRESENTATI VE PRU TT suggested checking with the House Finance
Commi ttee subcomm ttee chair who worked on the bill.

MS. PALMER reviewed the statute, noting that to qualify a person
also has to have nmintained a place of business within Al aska
for the six nonths inmedi ately precedi ng.

12:34: 52 PM

HOUSE EDT COW TTEE -12- February 7, 2013



REPRESENTATIVE HI GA NS opined the film industry wll bring
support services into the state until it is proven that | ocal
production conpani es can provi de the services.

CHAI R HUGHES asked for information on the budget for the Al aska
FilmOfice.

MR. HAIGHT answered that the film office has one full-tinme
devel opnent speci al i st and one hal f-tine adm ni strative
assi st ant . Mar keti ng expenses including publications, print
costs, and trade shows, are in the range of $15,000 to $20, 000.

CHAI R HUGHES t hen asked what kind of film production studios are
in existence, and whether there has been investnent in this type
of facility.

MR, HAI GHT advised that he visited a large green screen studio
in Anchorage. In further response to Chair Hughes, he said film
production conpanies have indicated there remains a |ack of
basic infrastructure for the filmindustry.

REPRESENTATI VE PRU TT heard the mning conmunity is concerned
that imges created by film productions have caused an increased
scrutiny of mning practices in Al aska. He asked whether the
subject of a film production is taken into account if the state
is not shown in a positive |ight.

12: 40: 16 PM

M5. PALMER acknow edged that concern has been brought forward by
the Alaska Mners Association; however, the division does not

have a filter for the content of a production. Recent changes
to the program created a conm ssion tasked to address the best
interests of Al aska. She opined it wll be a challenge to

"police" the content of what is essentially entertainnment.

CHAIR HUGHES expressed her hope that the film office wll
integrate with other industries statew de.

12:43: 09 PM

ADJ QURNVENT
There being no further business before the conmttee, the House

Special Committee on Econom c Developnent, Trade and Tourism
nmeeti ng was adj ourned at 12:43 p. m

HOUSE EDT COW TTEE -13- February 7, 2013



